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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

Louis Scheppegrell II, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Rev. Berniece R. Hicks, 
Barbara Young, 

Defendants. 

Civil Action No.: 15-5794 

Judge: 

Magistrate: 

JURY DEMAND 

COMPLAINT 

Comes now Plaintiff Louis Scheppegrell II ("Scheppegrell") with his complaint 

("Complaint") against Reverend Berniece R. Hicks ("Hicks") and Barbara Young ("Young") 

(collectively "Defendants") and states as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is an action for civil remedies under the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt 

Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et seq. ("RICO")-specifically, for injunctive relief, 

for direct, consequential, and exemplary damages, and for reasonable attorneys' fees 

authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 1964 ("Civil RICO") paragraphs (a) and (c), respectively; 

further, this is an action for declaratory relief under the Louisiana Declaratory Judgment 

Act. See LA. CODE Civ. P. arts. 1871-83. 
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PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

2. Defendant Hicks is the founder of and preacher at Christ Gospel Churches 

International, Inc. ("CGCI" or "the Church") and, upon information and belief, resides in 

Jeffersonville, IN. 

3. Defendant Young is former counsel to CGCI and is Hicks' daughter. Upon 

information and belief, Young resides in Jeffersonville, IN. 

4. Plaintiff Scheppegrell is an accountant and former parishioner of CGCI residing 

at 5329 Citrus Blvd., Apt. H150, River Ridge, LA 70123. 

5. Upon information and belief, at all times material hereto, Defendants operated 

through the acts of their employees, agents, representatives, servants, and the like, acting 

within their course of employment and scope of duties. 

6. This Complaint alleges that Defendants, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962 (b), (c) 

and ( d), engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity across State lines and a conspiracy 

to engage in racketeering activity as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1961 (1) ("Predicate Acts"), 

involving numerous RICO Predicate Acts over the past ten (10) years and at least two (2) 

Predicate Acts against Scheppegrell over the past four (4) years. This Court has subject 

matter jurisdiction over these claims pursuant to 28 U .S.C. § 1331 ("Federal Question") 

and 18 U.S.C. § 1964 (a) and (c). 

7. This Complaint also asks this Court to declare a contract ('"Contract") entered into 

between Scheppegrell and CGCI null and void because the contract itself constitutes a 

Predicate Act under RICO. See Exhibit A, Affidavit of Scheppegrell ("Aff. 

Scheppegrell") (Exhibit 4, Contract). Said Contract arises from the same transaction or 
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occurrence as Scheppegrell's Civil RICO claim. This Court has subject matter 

jurisdiction over this claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 ("Supplemental Jurisdiction"). 

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because Defendants' acts of 

racketeering occurred in part in this jurisdiction, were expressly aimed at this jurisdiction, 

and caused harm Defendants knew or should have known was likely to be suffered in this 

jurisdiction. Upon information and belief, this Court also has jurisdiction over 

Defendants because they have transacted business in this judicial district. 

9. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1965 (a) and (b) 

because Defendants have transacted their affairs in this judicial district, because 

Defendants are subject to personal jurisdiction in this judicial district, and because the 

ends of justice require that Defendants be brought before this Court. 

DEFENDANTS' MISCONDUCT 

10. Defendant Young engaged in a pattern of racketeering by, inter alia, writing 

extortionary letters, settlement agreements, and other methods directed at the list of 

victims enumerated below, and by conspiring with Defendant Hicks to propagate 

fraudulent and extortionary content through CGCI to members of the Church worldwide 

in an effort to maintain an unlawful revenue stream-a revenue stream predicated in part 

on Hicks' alleged one-on-one meetings "in the flesh" ("Meetings") with Jesus Christ, the 

Lord and savior of Christians ("Jesus"). Young's Predicate Acts are enumerated below as 

attached to individual victims. See generally Exhibit A, Aff. Scheppegrell; see also 

Exhibit B, Affidavit of Kim Neely Scheppegrell ("Aff. KNS"); Exhibit C, Affidavit of 

Bobbie Gail Batke ("Aff. Batke"). Young's Predicate Acts were conducted via U.S. mail 
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and/or email communications that crossed states lines and affected interstate commerce. 

Id. 

11. Defendant Hicks engaged in a pattern of racketeering by, inter alia, fraudulently 

promulgating Hicks' ''doctrine of the Bride" to CGCI worldwide as having been provided 

directly from Jesus, in a one-on-meeting with the latter, after admitting that she had 

plagiarized the content allegedly provided by Jesus from a book by Carlo Suares1 

("Book" or "the Book"), and by conspiring with Defendant Young to propagate 

fraudulent and extortionary content through CGCI to members of the Church worldwide 

in an effort to maintain an unlawful revenue stream-a revenue stream predicated in part 

on Hicks' alleged Meetings with Jesus. Hicks' Predicate Acts are enumerated below 

attached to individual victims. Id. Hicks' Predicate Acts were conducted via U.S. mail 

and/or email communications that crossed states lines and affected interstate commerce. 

Id. 

12. CGCI, engaged in pattern of racketeering by, inter alia, allowing and encouraging 

its agents to write extortionary letters and settlement agreements, and by providing the 

infrastructure and monetary resources to fraudulently promulgate Hicks' "doctrine of the 

Bride" to CGCI members worldwide and was the vehicle of Defendant Young and 

Defendant Hicks' conspiracy to commit the acts enumerated herein in an effort to 

maintain an unlawful revenue stream-a revenue stream predicated in part on Hicks' 

alleged Meetings with Jesus. CGCI's Predicate Acts are enumerated below attached to 

individual victims. Id. CGCI enabled the aforementioned communications across state 

lines by Young and Hicks, and said communications were done in its name. 

1 The Suares book is entitled: The Song of Songs: The Canonical Song of Solomon Deciphered According to the 
Original Code of the Oabala. See http://www.amazon.com/The-Song-Songs-Canonical-Deciphered/dp/087773027X. 
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LIST OF VICTIMS AND PREDICATE ACTS 

13. Scheppegrell was a member of the Church circa 1973 to October 1984. See 

Exhibit A, Aff. Scheppegrell ~ 20. Scheppegrell was induced to tithe to the Church in part 

because of his later discovered wrongful belief that Hicks had Meetings with Jesus. In 

October 1984, Scheppegrell and a small group of others confronted Hicks with her 

plagiarism of the Book-a meeting wherein she admitted that the content ("Content") she 

ascribed to Jesus, via a one-on-one meeting with the latter, had in fact come from the 

Book. Id. at~ 6. This constitutes the initial Predicate Act against Scheppegrell-that is, 

the deception, fraud, and extortion upon which his monetary contributions to the Church 

were based. On or about June 1, 2013, Scheppegrell received a letter from Young, former 

attorney for CGCI and Hicks' daughter, which indicated that Scheppegrell's blog, 

"Romans Letter I Christ Gospel and Sister Hicks Revealed" ("Blog"), was filled with 

content that was damaging to CGCL Id. at irir 2-3; 10-15. The letter contained a veiled 

threat, paraphrasing: "take down your Blog or bad things may happen to you." Id. This 

letter coerced Scheppegrell to give up his rights under the threat of economic harm2
, in 

violation of LA Rev. Stat.§ 14:66 and 18 U.S.C. § 1951, and constitutes the first injury 

suffered by Scheppegrell within the last four ( 4) years. The letter was followed up with a 

"Settlement and Release" agreement ("Agreement"). Id. at if~ 14-15. The threats in the 

Agreement were not veiled and included, inter alia, the following: (a) not to further 

disclose Scheppegrell' s identity as the author of the Blog; (b) not to refer to Scheppegrell 

in a derogatory fashion in public; and ( c) not to contact Scheppegrell' s employer-all 

2 Inviting Scheppegrell to remove his Blog from the Internet and "communicate with us" is a veiled threat that 
Defendants would take further coercive and illegal action against Scheppegrell if he did not comply. The invitation 
for Scheppegrell to "contact his lawyer" was merely an attempt by Young, as counsel, made to ostensibly comply 
with the Rules of Professional responsibility. 
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obvious threats of an intent to hann Scheppegrell outside of any legal proceedings 

whatsoever, including an obvious threat to damage his professional reputation and ability 

to earn a living. Id. The threats in the Agreement caused Scheppegrell to harbor a 

reasonable fear of economic harm if he exposed Defendants' fraudulent and extortionary 

activities and thereby created a risk to the continuation of Defendants' illegal revenue 

stream. The Agreement was extortionary, violated LA Rev. Stat. § 14:66 and 18 U.S.C. § 

1951, constitutes a Predicate Act against Scheppegrell and is the second injury suffered 

by Scheppegrell within the past four ( 4) years. Id. The act of inducing tithing under 

fraudulent and extortionary premises and threatening harm to an individual outside of 

legal proceedings constitute a pattern of racketeering engaged in by Defendants; CGCI in 

particular was the organization that provided cover for, and encouraged, this pattern of 

racketeering, which collectively contributed to a common plan engaged in by Defendants 

Hicks and Young. This pattern has resulted in Defendants being able to maintain 

interstate income garnered through unlawful Predicate Acts, such as those described in 

this paragraph. 

14. Kim Neely Scheppegrell ("KNS"), Plaintiffs former wife, was a member of the 

Church since childhood. See Aff. KNS if 2. Later, as an adult, KNS was induced to tithe 

to the Church in part because of her belief that Hicks had Meetings with Jesus-a belief 

fostered by Hicks' fraudulent and extortionary misrepresentations to that effect. Id. at if if 

6-9, 13. In 1984 KNS, and a small group of others, confronted Hicks with her plagiarism 

of the Book-a meeting wherein she admitted the Content she ascribed to Jesus, via a 

one-on-one meeting with the latter, had in fact come from the Book. Id. at ~ 9. This 

constitutes the initial Predicate Act against K.NS-that is, the deception, fraud, and 
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extortion upon which her monetary contributions to the Church were based. The act of 

inducing tithing under fraudulent extortionary premises constitutes a pattern of 

racketeering engaged in by Defendants; CGCI in particular was the organization that 

provided cover for, and encouraged, this pattern of racketeering, which collectively 

contributed to a common plan engaged in by Defendants Hicks and Young. This pattern 

has resulted in Defendants being able to maintain income garnered through unlawful 

Predicate Acts, such as the ones described in this paragraph. 

15. Bobbie Gail Batke (formerly Bobbie Gail Moody) ("Batke"), author of the book 

For The Sake Of The Children3
, was a member of the Church for nearly twenty years 

from the age often (10), when her step father became a pastor of the Church. See Exhibit 

C, Aff. Batke, 2. Batke's book was published on March 27, 2012. Id. at, 11. Batke's 

book was critical of the Church's doctrines from the perspective of an individual who had 

entered the Church at a young and tender age. Id. at,, 2; 11-13. Batke received a letter 

from Young approximately a year after Batke's book was published. Id. at, 13. In 

addition to threatening legal action, Young's letter to Batke, inter alia, accused Batke of 

making false statements and portraying CGCI in a false light and attempting to remain an 

anonymous author, a veiled threat that Young would take action to "out" Batke. Id. at,, 

15-18. Young not only threatens litigation against Batke, but purports to provide legal 

advice, presumably in an attempt to intimidate Batke so as to have Batke either retract her 

statements made in her book or cease publication. Id. at,, 15-22. Young also suggests 

that any book advertisements on Scheppegrell's Blog exposed her to additional liability, 

but provided no grounds for same. Id. at, 20. This Predicate Act, (i.e. Young's 

threatening, extortionary letter to Batke) occurred circa April 2013. Id. at, 13. The 

3 http://www.amazon.com/F or-The-Sake-Of-Children-ebook/dp/B007PG2D8Y #customerReviews. 
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Predicate Act of threatening harm to an individual outside of legal proceedings to gain an 

advantage violates LA Rev. Stat.§ 14:66 and 18 U.S.C. § 1951 and constitutes a pattern 

of racketeering engaged in by Defendants; CGCI in particular was the organization that 

provided cover for, and encouraged, this pattern of racketeering, which collectively 

contributed to a common plan engaged in by Defendants Hicks and Young. This pattern 

has resulted in Defendants being able to maintain income garnered through unlawful 

interstate commerce through Predicate Acts such as the ones described in this paragraph. 

MERGER OF ACTIVITIES AND THE ENTERPRISE 

16. Upon information and belief, the Predicate Acts committed by Defendants have 

all merged into the acts of a single entity because one is incapable of separating the acts 

of Hicks, who effectively controlled the Church, from those of the Church itself. Further, 

Young, as Hicks' daughter and legal counsel for the Church, operated under Hicks' 

direction and cannot be separated from the Church. Hence, the entire power structure 

relationships among Defendants and CGCI, and racketeering activity engaged in by all 

three, effectively merge into a single enterprise ("Enterprise"). 

17. Hicks led the Enterprise and Young was an employee of the Enterprise who 

carried out many of its Predicate Acts, whereas CGCI was the legal entity that provided 

cover for, encouraged and profited from the pattern of racketeering described herein as 

carried out by Hicks and Young. 

18. The Enterprise itself, as the combined entity that includes the pattern of 

racketeering activities of both Defendants through the vehicle of CGCI, was the active 

perpetrator of the Predicate Acts described herein. 

8 
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19. The victims of the pattern of racketeering were Louis Scheppegrell II, Kim Neely 

Scheppegrell, Bobbie Gail Batke and numerous individuals that these three (3) 

individuals have personal knowledge of. See Exhibit A, Aff. Scheppegrell ~ 16; see also 

Exhibit B, Aff. KNS ~ 18; Exhibit C, Aff. Batke ~ 24. 

20. Ostensibly CGCI was a church that conducted its activities according to 

applicable law; however the Enterprise, as defined herein, engaged in Predicate Acts 

conducted through interstate commerce to unlawfully maintain an income stream based 

on maintaining tithing and other income sustained by a fraudulent and extortionary 

misrepresentation perpetrated on current and former members of the Church. See Exhibit 

A, Aff. Scheppegrell ~~ 8-9; see also Exhibit B, Aff. KNS ~ 14; Exhibit C, Aff. Batke ~ 

10. 

21. Defendants fraudulently promulgated Hicks' "doctrine of the Bride" as having 

been provided directly from Jesus in Meetings with the latter, to all of CGCI's churches 

in the U.S., which includes churches in twenty-eight (28) different states, including 

Louisiana-thereby unlawfully maintaining the income stream through the use of 

interstate commerce. See Exhibit D, CGCI churches in the U.S. 

22. The Enterprise, by way of CGCI, effectively maintained economic control of its 

subsidiary churches located nationwide, and the revenue in part fraudulently generated by 

same, thereby violating 18 U .S.C. § I 962(b ). 

23. Hicks, as the leader and primary decision maker of the Enterprise, the founder of 

CGCI, and directing superior of Young, acquired and maintained an interest in and 

control of the Enterprise, thereby violating 18 U.S.C. § 1962(b). 

9 



Case 2:15-cv-05794   Document 1   Filed 11/10/15   Page 10 of 17

24. All members of the Enterprise, Hicks as the leader, and Young as an employee, 

and CGCI as the vehicle, participated in a pattern of racketeering using interstate 

commerce to fraudulently generate and maintain income for the Enterprise, thereby 

violating 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). 

25. The members of the Enterprise, Hicks, Young, and CGCI, conspired to engage in 

a pattern of racketeering using interstate commerce to fraudulently generate and maintain 

income, thereby violating 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). 

26. The injury to the victims enumerated above are contained in their respective 

affidavits, which include inducement to tithe based on the Enterprise's fraudulent 

activities surrounding "the doctrine of the Bride" and the alleged Meetings Hicks has 

with Jesus. See generally Exhibit A, Aff. Scheppegrell; see also Exhibit B, Aff. KNS; 

Exhibit C, Aff. Batke. 

27. The pattern of racketeering, including but not limited to Hicks as leader of the 

Enterprise, fraudulently claiming to have one-on-one Meetings with Jesus was the direct 

and proximate cause of part of the injuries suffered by the victims; Scheppegrell was also 

dispossessed of the intellectual property contained in his Blog, injuring Scheppegrell. Id. 

CONTRACT NULLIFICATION 

28. On June 12, 2013, Defendant Young sent Scheppegrell the Agreement that 

purported to settle all past disputes between Scheppegrell and CGCL See Exhibit A, Aff. 

Scheppegrell ~ 14. 

29. The Agreement foreclosed Scheppegrell from ever exposing the Enterprise's 

fraudulent misrepresentations relating to Hicks' plagiarism, ever exposing the 

Enterprise's coercive practices to maintain its illegal revenue stream, and also sought to 
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prevent Scheppegrell from ever opining as to CGCI and Defendant Hicks outside of 

private, in-passing conversation. Id. Further, the Agreement divested Scheppegrell of his 

intellectual property by attempting to restrict his exercise of the exclusive rights to his 

Blog granted by the 1976 Copyright Act. Id. at~ 15. 

30. The Enterprise threatened to disclose Scheppegrell's identity, deride Scheppegrell 

publicly and, most importantly, contact Scheppegrell's employer to interfere with his 

business relationships, professional reputation, and his ability to earn a living ("Threats"). 

Id. at ilil 14, 15. 

31. CGCI, through Defendant Young, used the Threats to secure Scheppegrell' s 

consent, clothed them as merely consideration for his cooperation, and only agreed not to 

pursue these illicit tactics upon Scheppegrell' s agreement to refrain from further exposing 

the Enterprise's racketeering activities. Id. 

32. The Threats caused Scheppegrell to fear that the Enterprise would cause him 

personal and economic harm. Scheppegrell felt unable to combat the Enterprise and his 

fear of personal and economic harm induced his consent to the Agreement. Id. at ~ii 13-

14. 

Count I - Interest in and Control of Racketeering Enterprise 
[18 u.s.c. § 1962(b)] 

33. Scheppegrell incorporates by reference all the allegations set forth in ilil 1-32 as if 

fully set forth herein. 

34. The Enterprise maintained an illegal revenue stream through tithing induced in 

part by Hicks' fraudulent and extortionary misrepresentations of personal Meetings with 

Jesus. 

11 
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35. The Enterprise protected its illegal revenue stream by harnessing Young to make 

extortionate threats of economic harm to Scheppegrell and Batke if they exposed the 

Enterprise's fraudulent misrepresentations. 

36. The Enterprise's fraudulent misrepresentations and extortion constituted a pattern 

of related racketeering activity. 

3 7. CGCI collected the illegal revenue, embodied and was the vehicle for the 

Enterprise's racketeering activity. 

38. Defendant Hicks', as the founder and leader of CGCI, directed and profited from 

the Enterprise's racketeering activity. 

39. Defendant Hicks maintained an interest in and control of the Enterprise through a 

pattern of racketeering activity. 

Count II - Participation in Racketeering Enterprise 
[18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)] 

40. Scheppegrell incorporates by reference all the allegations set forth in if~ 1-32 as if 

fully set forth herein. 

41. The Enterprise maintained an illegal revenue stream through tithing induced by 

Hicks' fraudulent and extortionary misrepresentations of personal Meetings with Jesus. 

42. The Enterprise protected its illegal revenue stream by harnessing Young to make 

extortionate threats of economic harm to Scheppegrell, Batke and others if they exposed 

the Enterprise's fraudulent misrepresentations. 

43. The Enterprise's fraudulent misrepresentations and extortion constituted a pattern 

of related racketeering activity. 

12 
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44. Defendant Young was employed and associated with the Enterprise, directly 

participated in the Enterprise's extortion, and indirectly participated in the Enterprise's 

fraudulent misrepresentations. 

45. Defendant Hicks was associated with the Enterprise as its leader and foremost 

decision maker, directly participated in the Enterprise's fraudulent and extortionary 

misrepresentations and indirectly participated in its extortionary acts. 

Count III - Conspiracy to Racketeer 
[18 u.s.c. § 1962(d)] 

46. Scheppegrell incorporates by reference all the allegations set forth in~~ 1-32 as if 

fully set forth herein. 

4 7. The Enterprise maintained an illegal revenue stream through tithing induced by 

Hicks' fraudulent and extortionary misrepresentations of personal Meetings with Jesus. 

48. The Enterprise protected its illegal revenue stream by making extortionate threats 

of economic harm to Scheppegrell, Batke and others if they exposed the Enterprise's 

fraudulent misrepresentations. 

49. The Enterprise's fraudulent misrepresentations and extortion constituted a pattern 

of related racketeering activity. 

50. Both Defendants collaborated, agreed to carry out, and in fact did carry out the 

Enterprise's pattern of racketeering activity as described herein. 

Count IV - Declaratory Judgment - Absolute Nullity of Contract 
[LA. CODE Civ. P. arts. 2030, 2033] 

51. Scheppegrell incorporates by reference all the allegations set forth in ~~ 1-32 as if 

fully set forth herein. 

13 
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52. The Agreement between and amongst CGCI and Scheppegrell threatened 

economic harm and placed Scheppegrell in reasonable fear of economic harm if he did 

not comply with the Enterprise's onerous demands to give the Enterprise an advantage 

through his silence about the Enterprise's fraudulent and extortionary misrepresentations. 

53. The Agreement itself was an extortionate act in furtherance of Defendants' 

conspiracy to racketeer and a violation of LA Rev. Stat§ 14:66 and 18 U.S.C. § 1951, 

constituting a Predicate Act that formed part of the Enterprise's pattern of racketeering 

activity. 

54. The Agreement itself was an illicit act and was for an illicit purpose, rendering the 

Agreement absolutely null. 

5 5. A real case or controversy exists between the parties as evidenced by the 

allegations contained herein. 

56. Plaintiff has been injured and damaged by Defendants' threats pursuant to the 

Agreement. 

57. Declaratory relief is appropriate and necessary to establish that the Agreement is, 

and has been, a nullity since its inception. 

JURY DEMAND 

Scheppegrell requests a trial by jury on all issues to which he is entitled to a 

trial by jury. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Scheppegrell respectfully requests that the Court: 

Count I - Interest in and Control of Racketeering Enterprise 

14 
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(A) Permanently enjoin Defendants and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with Defendants, as authorized by 18 U.S.C. § l 964(a), from continuing to engage 

in activities proscribed by 18 U.S.C. § 1962(b); 

(B) Award Scheppegrell direct, consequential, and incidental damages sustained to his 

business and property flowing from Defendants' violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(b), in an amount 

to be proven at trial; 

(C) Award Scheppegrell threefold the damages proven in (B) above as authorized by 18 

U.S.C. § 1964(c); 

(D) Award Scheppegrell the costs of this suit as authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); 

(E) Award Scheppegrell reasonable attorneys' fees as authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); 

(F) Grant Scheppegrell any other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

Count II - Participation in Racketeering Enterprise 

(A) Permanently enjoin Defendants and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with Defendants, as authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 1964(a), from continuing to engage 

in activities proscribed by 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c); 

(B) Award Scheppegrell direct, consequential, and incidental damages sustained to his 

business and property flowing from Defendants' violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), in an amount 

to be proven at trial; 

(C) Award Scheppegrell threefold the damages proven in (B) above as authorized by 18 

U.S.C. § 1964(c); 

(D) Award Scheppegrell the costs of this suit as authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); 

(E) Award Scheppegrell reasonable attorneys' fees as authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); 

(F) Grant Scheppegrell any other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

15 
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Count III - Conspiracy to Racketeer 

(A) Permanently enjoin Defendants and all other persons in active concert or 

participation with Defendants, as authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 1964(a), from continuing to engage 

in activities proscribed by 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d); 

(B) Award Scheppegrell direct, consequential, and incidental damages sustained to his 

business and property flowing from Defendants' violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), in an amount 

to be proven at trial; 

(C) Award Scheppegrell threefold the damages proven in (B) above as authorized by 18 

U.S.C. § 1964(c); 

(D) Award Scheppegrell the costs ofthis suit as authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); 

(E) Award Scheppegrell reasonable attorneys' fees as authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); 

(F) Grant Scheppegrell any other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

Count IV - Declaratory Judgment - Contract Nullification 

(A) Declare the Agreement an absolute nullity and wholly unenforceable because it was 

secured using illicit means and had an illicit purpose; 

(B) Award Scheppegrell damages as restoration because it is impossible or impracticable 

to otherwise place the parties in the situation that existed before the Agreement was made; 

(C) Grant Scheppegrell any other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 
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Designation of Place of Trial 

Scheppegrell hereby designates New Orleans, Louisiana as the place of trial of the above 

styled matter. 

Respectfully submitted, 

By /sf Fred L. Herman 
FRED L. HERMAN (Bar# 6811) 
THOMAS J. BARBERA (Bar# 18719) 
1010 Common Street, Suite 3000 
New Orleans, LA 70112 
Telephone: (504) 581-7068 
Telefax: (504) 581-7083 

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Louis Scheppegrell II 
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